72103-1

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 24, 2014, 9:39 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

72103-1 No. 89178-8

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE DOCTORS COMPANY, a California Interinsurance Exchange,
Appellant,

٧.

BENNETT BIGELOW & LEEDOM, P.S., a Washington professional services corporation; AMY THOMPSON FORBIS and JOHN DOE FORBIS, her husband, and the marital community comprised thereof; and JENNIFER LYNN MOORE and JOHN DOE MOORE, her husband, and the marital community comprised thereof, Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAW OFFICE OF ROBERT B. GOULD

INTRODUCTION

To defend a medical malpractice action against its three insureds, The Doctors Company (TDC) approached Bennett Bigelow & Leedom (BBL). At the outset, TDC asked BBL whether it could represent all three insureds. BBL assured TDC that it could, disclosing no potential conflicts, and obtaining no conflict waivers. TDC accepted and followed BBL's legal advice.

BBL later told TDC that a testifying expert BBL retained supported all three defendants. That was false. The expert had told BBL months earlier – and in no uncertain terms – that he could not support one of the doctors. BBL never disclosed this actual conflict.

When the conflicts came to light, TDC retained new counsel for each of its insureds. It then learned – on the cusp of trial – that BBL was too busy with another case to meet this case's schedule. The plaintiffs moved to strike defense experts. They also accused TDC of "bad faith" in the conflict of interest situation. The other defendant settled, threatening to seek contribution from the insureds.

TDC settled the case for \$7 million above policy limits – fully protecting its insureds – then sued BBL. The trial court entered summary judgment that BBL owed TDC no duty. This Court should reverse and remand for trial.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred as a matter of law in ruling that insurance defense counsel owe no duty of care to an insurance carrier who retains them, where (as here) counsel gave negligent legal advice directly to the carrier. CP 2460-78.
- 2. The trial court also erred as a matter of law in ruling that insurance defense counsel are insulated from liability where (as here) they affirmatively misrepresent an actual conflict of interest to the clients and to the carrier. *Id*.
- 3. Alternatively, the trial court erred as a matter of law in ruling that an insurance carrier is not an intended third-party beneficiary of the insurance contract under which defense counsel is retained to represent the carrier's insured, where (as here) counsel's duties to the insured (as client) align perfectly with indeed, are identical to the duties owed to the carrier, and no reservation of rights exists. *Id*.
- 4. The trial court erred as a matter of law in ruling that insurance defense counsel are insulated from legal liability for malpractice where (as here) they negligently fail to comply with a case schedule, exposing their clients (the insureds) to liability, and where the insurance carrier indemnifies and holds harmless the insureds, suffering all of the harm caused by counsel's legal malpractice. *Id.*

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Where, as here, an insurance carrier seeks and relies upon legal advice from retained insurance defense counsel regarding conflicts of interest in defending three insureds in one action, but counsel ignore potential conflicts to the sole detriment of the carrier, may the carrier sue counsel for legal malpractice? What if counsel also affirmatively misrepresent an existing conflict to the carrier and the insureds, but only the carrier is harmed by the misrepresentation? 2. In addition, should this Court adopt the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE LAW GOVERNING LAWYERS § 51, where (as here) (a) the interests of the insurer and its insureds wholly align, (b) counsel and clients knew that one of the primary objectives of the representation was that counsel's services would benefit the insurer, (c) imposing such a duty would not significantly impair counsel's performance of obligations to their clients, and (d) the absence of such a duty would make enforcement of those obligations to the client highly unlikely? 3. In the alternative, and under the above facts, is the carrier a thirdparty beneficiary of the insurance contract, particularly in light of the indisputable fact that if the carrier cannot recover for the attorneys' malpractice, no one can?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The underlying matter.

 Gabarra brought a medical malpractice suit against Dr. Moore, Dr. Nudelman, and their clinic, all of whom were insured by appellant TDC.

Jean Gabarra consulted with Dr. Heather Moore, OBGYN, during her pregnancy. CP 230, 1391. In November 2006, Gabarra was admitted to Overlake Hospital & Medical Center for the birth. CP 230. After her shift ended, Dr. Moore went home, transferring Ms. Gabarra's care to her colleague and fellow shareholder in Bellgrove Ob-Gyn Inc. P.S, Dr. Mitchell Nudelman. CP 230, 1391.

Dr. Nudelman was busy that evening and into the next morning, delivering several babies. CP 356-57. He left Gabarra in second-stage labor for eight hours. *Id.* At some point, he called Dr. Moore back in to assist with a C-section on Gabarra. CP 230. The child was essentially stillborn. *Id.* Delayed resuscitation efforts were successful, but the child was severely injured. CP 28, 230.

The Gabarras sued the doctors, their clinic, and Overlake, primarily alleging that they breached the standard of care by not

¹ An article written by counsel for the Gabarras in the underlying action, Paul Luvera, provides helpful background on that action. CP 28-29.

delivering the child earlier. CP 230, 1391. The doctors and their clinic were all insured by The Doctors Company (TDC). CP 230.

 TDC accepted the defense without a reservation of rights, and the attorneys assured TDC that they had no conflicts of interest and could represent all three insureds.

TDC accepted its insureds' defense without a reservation of rights. CP 2235. But its Claims Supervisor, Nancy Nucci, was concerned about potential conflicts of interest among the defendants. CP 613-14, 801, 1838-39, 1846. Nucci contacted attorney Elizabeth Leedom at Bennett Bigelow & Leedom (BBL), who declined the representation because she was a personal friend of one of plaintiffs' counsel. CP 614. TDC turned to Amy Forbis, one of Leedom's partners at BBL. CP 237-39. BBL attorney Jennifer Moore also worked on the case. CP 230.

The BBL attorneys interviewed the two doctor defendants separately. CP 463. The BBL attorneys then told TDC that they could represent all three insureds without a present – or even a potential – conflict of interest. CP 1117-18, 1851. BBL did not disclose any potential or actual conflicts, or seek a written waiver. CP 38, 1391. TDC relied upon BBL's legal advice. CP 1851.

 Dr. Nudelman asked BBL to retain a top expert, and BBL informed TDC that he supported both doctors

 a blatant falsehood.

Dr. Nudelman asked his BBL counsel to retain Dr. Frank Manning, a top expert in his field. CP 521, 1768. By July 20, 2010, attorney Moore had informed TDC's Nucci that "Dr. Manning believes the care provided by all was within the standard of care." CP 526. She further stated that Dr. Manning "is not critical at all of the way Dr. Nudelman managed the delivery." *Id.* BBL disclosed Dr. Manning as an expert witness for both doctors. CP 1761.

These representations were false. In an April 2010 call with attorney Jennifer Moore, expert Manning had stated unequivocally that while Dr. Moore adhered to the standard of care, Dr. Nudelman did not. CP 1156-57, 1163, 1165, 1758, 1784-85. Dr. Manning was emphatic he told attorney Moore in no uncertain terms that he could not support Dr. Nudelman (CP 1784-85, emphasis added):

I am mortified to read Ms. [Jennifer] Moore's report in which she suggests I was 'not critical of the way Dr. Nudelman managed the delivery.' To offer such a position would require that I accept a 5 or more hours of second stage including picotin augmentation to be within the standard – I simply could never adopt such a position. I am quite certain Ms. Moore knew I could not serve as an expert for Dr. Nudelman.

² These are Dr. Manning's notes of his conversation with attorney Moore (Ex 200 to his deposition). At the bottom he wrote, "Moore Okay | Can't defend Nudelman." CP 1155, 1165.

Dr. Moore sought separate counsel – and with a trial looming – TDC hired separate counsel for all defendants.

After a continuance, the jury trial was to begin on November 15, 2010. CP 262. The discovery cutoff was September 27, 2010. *Id.* In the weeks before this cutoff, BBL attorneys Forbis and Moore were much more involved in a different medical malpractice trial, *Costales v. Univ. of Wash. Med. Cntr.*, King County Superior Court No. 08-2-183526-5 SEA. CP 2137, 2142-45, 2210-14, 2247.

On September 6, 2010, BBL informed Dr. Moore for the first time that she could not be dismissed from the case on summary judgment. CP 366. Dr. Moore contacted her sister-in-law, who was in-house counsel for a Minnesota insurance company. CP 1481, 1840. Dr. Moore learned from her sister-in-law that she should ask for separate counsel. CP 1840, 1848. Dr. Moore called Nucci, who in turn called BBL, which said it would assess the issue. *Id*.

Unbeknownst to Nucci, BBL was consulting with its outside ethics counsel, Peter Jarvis of Portland. CP 1257, 1841. He concluded that BBL could, at best, continue representing one of the defendants, but it would have to obtain a written waiver from the other two defendants. CP 715, 1257. At the same time, TDC independently concluded that potential conflicts existed, and their

insureds needed three separate attorneys. CP 441, 1840-41. It hired James King for Dr. Nudelman, Mick Hoffman for Dr. Moore, and Steve Fitzer for Bellgrove Ob-Gyn Inc. P.S. CP 1852.

5. Successor counsel unsuccessfully sought a continuance, plaintiffs threatened a "bad faith" claim, the hospital settled, and TDC (after hiring yet more counsel) also settled – paying \$7 million above policy limits.

Successor counsel sought a continuance. CP 520, 1734, 1759. Attorney Forbis told the judge she had an undisclosed conflict of interest, albeit while maintaining that she was able to "ethically and effectively" represent all three defendants until "recently." CP 1678-79, 1685-87. The requested continuance was denied. CP 520.

The Gabarras asserted that all of this motions practice was just a TDC ploy. CP 1292-97, 1777. They threatened to take covenant judgments from the insureds, and sue TDC for "bad faith." *Id.* TDC therefore hired attorney Dan Mullin to defend itself. CP 518.

The Gabarras moved to strike many of the defendants' expert witnesses because the BBL lawyers had failed to comply with the case schedule. CP 1668-76. The trial judge took this motion under advisement on November 5, 2010. CP 1692, 1697-99, 1728-29.

Co-defendant Overlake Hospital settled with the plaintiffs, paying nearly \$10 million. CP 1696. Overlake threatened to seek

contribution from the insureds (CP 1318-19); TDC hired private counsel for each defendant, Will Smart for Dr. Nudelman, Pat Sheldon for Dr. Moore, and Jeff Tilden for the Clinic. CP 1852. The insureds – through counsel – all agreed in writing to allow TDC to attempt a global settlement. CP 532-37. But Dr. Moore made it clear that settlement could take place only if she did not admit liability and TDC made no payment on her behalf. CP 457-58, 492, 534-35.³

Attorney Mullin succeeded. TDC paid over \$10 million. CP 216, 523. Since Dr. Moore's policy could not be accessed, TDC paid \$7,150,000 above applicable policy limits. CP 444, 532-37.

B. Procedural history.

TDC sued BBL on February 22, 2012. CP 1. TDC's claims were for legal malpractice, breach of implied contract, breach of fiduciary duty, and violation of the Washington State Consumer Protection Act. CP 1-14. The parties brought five summary judgment motions. CP 80-82, 101-26, 1096-1104, 1170-90, 1966-88. The trial court ruled that BBL owed TDC no duties. CP 1957-62, 2377-79. TDC timely appealed. CP 2428-49, 2456-78.

³ Unlike most medical malpractice carriers, TDC (a mutual insurance company owned by its insureds) has no "hammer clause" in its policy. CP 383-84, 458. This means that although TDC cannot settle without the insured's written consent, it is not relieved of liability above its recommended settlement amount when an insured declines to settle. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

Summary judgments are reviewed *de novo*. **Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling Sav. Bank**, 178 Wn.2d 561, 565, 311 P.3d 1 (2013). "Summary judgment is appropriate if 'there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and ... the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c)." *Id*. The question here is whether BBL owed TDC a duty. *Cf. generally Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994). "Determining whether an attorney/client relationship exists necessarily involves questions of fact." **Bohn v. Gody**, 119-Wn.2d 357, 363, 832-P.2d 71 (1992).

B. Under very well established Washington law, BBL gave TDC legal advice, so it owed TDC a duty of care.

TDC was BBL's client: it is undisputed that TDC sought and relied upon BBL's legal advice that it could properly accept the representation of all three defendants. CP 1117-18, 1851. There is no doubt that telling someone whether a conflict of interest exists is giving them legal advice. See, e.g., Eriks v. Denver, 118 Wn.2d 451, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992). There should be no doubt that failing to reveal an actual conflict for months, and even lying about it, is malpractice. Yet the trial court found no duty running from BBL to TDC. This Court should reverse and remand for trial.

The elements of a Washington legal malpractice claim are

- (1) an attorney-client relationship imposing a duty of care from attorney to client;
- (2) the attorney's act or omission breaching that duty;
- (3) damage to the client; and
- (4) proximate cause.

Hizey v. Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 251, 260-61, 830 P.2d 646 (1992) (citing Hansen v. Wightman, 14 Wn. App. 78, 88, 538 P.2d 1238 (1975); Sherry v. Diercks, 29 Wn. App. 433, 437, 628 P.2d 1336, rev. denied, 96 Wn.2d 1003 (1981); see also Bowman v. John Doe, 104 Wn.2d 181, 185, 704 P.2d 140 (1985) (once an attorney-client relationship is established, the elements for legal malpractice are the same as for negligence)). The trial court apparently dismissed this case for lack of the first element – an attorney-client relationship imposing a duty of care from BBL to TDC. CP 1957-62.

Whether an attorney-client relationship exists primarily turns on "whether the attorney's advice or assistance is sought and received on legal matters." *Bohn*, 119 Wn.2d at 363. *Bohn* also articulates a two-part inquiry (id.):

- (1) subjectively, does the client believe that an attorney-client relationship has been formed?; and
- (2) objectively, is the client's subjective belief reasonable under the circumstances?

Whether the relationship exists is a question of fact. See, e.g., Teja v. Saran, 68 Wn. App. 793, 795, 846 P.2d 1375 (1993). It is a question for the jury unless all material facts are undisputed. Stiley v. Block, 130 Wn.2d 486, 501-02, 925 P.2d 194 (1996).

Under *Bohn*, the trial court erred as a matter of law in finding no duty. Simply put, TDC sought legal advice from BBL about conflicts of interest. *Supra*, Statement of the Case, § A2. Subjectively, TDC believed that when BBL denied any potential or actual conflicts, TDC was receiving competent legal advice that could and should be relied upon. *Id*. Objectively, TDC reasonably asked BBL about conflicts of interest and relied upon its advice. *Id*. Indeed, BBL unquestionably has ethical and legal duties to disclose potential and actual conflicts of interest. *See*, *e.g.*, *Eriks*, *supra*; RPC 1.7; CP 538-56, 2233-43. As in *Bohn*, once BBL undertook "to tell part of the story," it had a duty to take "reasonable steps to tell the whole story, not just the self-serving portions of it." 119 Wn.2 at 367. BBL and TDC had an attorney-client relationship on this issue.

While not essential to answering the pure duty question, the remaining legal-malpractice elements are also met, or at the very least, they raise genuine issues of material fact not appropriate for summary judgment. On breach, BBL breached the standard of care

by (a) telling client TDC that no potential conflicts existed; (b) failing to tell client TDC promptly when the actual conflict arose; and (c) lying to client TDC about the expert's refusal to support Dr. Nudelman, which manifested an actual conflict. See Statement of the Case, §§ A2 & 3. These are clear conflicts under RPC 1.7(a)(2):

A concurrent conflict of interest exists if: there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibility to another client

Yet BBL never obtained "informed consent, confirmed in writing (following authorization from the other client to make any required disclosures)." RPC 1.7(4); see also CP 538-556 (Declaration of Thomas M. Fitzpatrick). Regrettably, the trial court never addressed these breaches, or even the fact that BBL gave TDC legal advice. A jury could reasonably find breach here.

On damages, when an insurance company pays for defense counsel's negligence, it has fully satisfied its primary duty to indemnify its insureds. As a result, the insureds suffer no monetary damages, and they thus have no right to sue counsel because they cannot establish damages flowing as a direct and proximate result of counsel's negligence. Only the insurer suffers the damages in these circumstances. A jury easily could find damage to TDC here.

On proximate cause – commonly a jury question – failing to disclose and avoid potential conflicts of interest at the outset inexorably led to difficulties for the clients. But failing to immediately disclose the conflict – and even lying about it – left TDC and its insureds perilously close to trial with no prepared and capable counsel. It also exposed TDC to claims of bad faith. A jury could find that BBL's breaches caused TDC's damages.

In sum, the trial court erroneously failed to recognize the direct attorney-client relationship between BBL and TDC. At the very least, genuine issues of material fact remain. This Court should reverse and remand for trial.

In a recent lawyer malpractice case, this Court restated the fundamental principle militating in favor of a reversal here:

The guiding principle of tort law is to make the injured party as whole as possible through pecuniary compensation.

Shoemake v. Ferrer, 168 Wn.2d 193, 198, 225 P.3d 990 (2010) (citing 16 DeWolf & Keller, Wash. Prac.: Tort Law & Practice § 5.1, at 172). Contrary to this bedrock principle, allowing this decision to stand leaves an injured party – the insurance company who unwaveringly defended, indemnified, and held harmless its insureds, up to and well beyond its policy limits – without a remedy.

C. In addition, this Court should adopt the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) approach, recognizing a duty running from insurance defense counsel to the insurer where, as here, no conflict exists between the insurer and its insureds, under the three-part § 51 test.

In addition, this Court should hold that where, as here, no conflict of interest exists between insurer and insured, the injured carrier may sue for legal malpractice (perhaps refocusing *Stewart Title* because this case – with its far more egregious malpractice – is a much better lens through which to view that determination).⁴ Indeed, this Court should now join the majority of other states in finding that a duty runs from insurance defense counsel to the insurer, at least in some cases. *See generally* Mallen & Smith, LEGAL MALPRACTICE § 30:12 (2013) (citing numerous cases). Courts reach this result under either a direct duty owed by defense counsel to the carrier, or under the doctrine of equitable subrogation. *Id*.

Here, TDC accepted its insureds' defense without a reservation of rights, and no conflict of interests existed between them and TDC at any point in the underlying litigation. BBL breached its duty of care by failing to discover potential conflicts among its

⁴ As discussed infra, It is unclear whether the Court actually rejected the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE LAW OF GOVERNING LAWYERS § 51 analysis in **Stewart Title**.

clients, lying to both TDC and its clients about actual conflicts, and failing to follow the case schedule (exposing both TDC and its insureds to a dangerous motion to strike expert witnesses). *Id.* On the cusp of trial, BBL's negligence created a great risk of leaving TDC and its insureds without essential expert testimony – and without thoroughly prepared trial counsel – forcing a settlement far in excess of policy limits. *Id.* TDC should be permitted to sue BBL.

Section 51 of the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE LAW GOVERNING LAWYERS ("§ 51") recognizes such a duty, but under a three-part test that this Court did not discuss in **Stewart Title**:

For purposes of liability under § 48,⁵ a lawyer owes a duty to use care within the meaning of § 52⁶ in each of the following circumstances:

(3) to a nonclient when and to the extent that:

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