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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Scope and Standard of Review: This Court's review 
is limited to the trial court's dismissal of TDC's legal 
malpractice claim because BBL did not owe TDC a 
duty of care, which is a legal issue. 

The trial court dismissed all four of TDC's claims, but TDC 

challenges only the dismissal of its legal malpractice claim. This 

Court's review is limited to the dismissal of TDC's legal malpractice 

claim on the ground that BBL did not owe TDC a duty of care as a 

third party beneficiary of BBL's attorney-client relationship with 
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Drs. Nudelman, Moore and their clinic. TDC conceded below that it 

was not a "client" of BBL. (§ IV.B.1, infra) 

TDC has not assigned error to the dismissal of its claims for 

breach of an implied contract or violation of the Consumer 

Protection Act and has not argued those issues in its brief. They are 

therefore waived. See Behnke v. Ahrens, 172 Wn. App. 281, 298, 

~ 44, 294 P.3d 729 (2012), rev. denied, 177 Wn.2d 1003 (2013). 

N or has TDC argued that the trial court erred in dismissing its 

claim for breach of a fiduciary duty. That issue is also waived. Hall 

v. Feigenbaum, _ Wn. App. _, ~ 9, 319 P.3d 61, 64 (2014) ("We 

deem an issue not briefed to be waived.") 

TDC correctly identifies the standard of review as de novo, 

but erroneously argues that the question of duty "necessarily 

involves questions of fact." (App. Br. 10, quoting Bohn v. Cody, 119 

Wn.2d 357,363,832 P.2d 71 (1992)) To the contrary, under Trask, 

123 Wn.2d at 841, the Court balances six factors to determine 

whether to impose a duty in tort as a matter of law and policy. See 

Snyder v. Med. Servo Corp. of Eastern Washington, 145 Wn.2d 

233,243,35 P.3d 1158 (2001) ("The existence of a duty is a question 

of law and depends on mixed considerations of 'logic, common 
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sense, justice, policy, and precedent."), quoting Hartley v. State, 

103 Wn.2d 768,779,698 P.2d 77 (1985)· 

Here, the trial court considered undisputed evidence in 

holding that the law firm retained by a liability carrier to represent 

its insured owed no duty of care in tort to the carrier. Its ruling was 

correct. This Court should affirm. 

B. As a matter of law, the BBL lawyers owed a duty of 
care to their clients, and not to TDC, the liability 
carrier that paid BBL to represent TDC's insureds. 

BBL had an attorney-client relationship with its clients, Drs. 

Nudelman, Moore and their Clinic, and not with the clients' liability 

carrier TDC. Because the firm owed no duty to TDC, a non-client, 

TDC has no claim for legal malpractice. 

First, TDC never argued, and in fact it conceded below, that 

TDC was not a "client" of BBL. BBL owed its duties of loyalty only 

to its clients - Dr. Nudelman, Dr. Moore and the Bellegrove Clinic-

and not to TDC, the liability carrier that was paying for the defense. 

Second, BBL did not owe TDC a duty of care as a non-client 

under the Trask multi-factor test. As the liability carrier that pays 

for the defense of its insureds, TDC was not the intended 

beneficiary of that defense as a matter of law. The Supreme Court 

in Stewart Title held that the "alignment of interests" between a 
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liability carrier and its insured is insufficient to impose a duty of 

care in tort. Here, the client's interests in a full defense and 

indemnity conflicted with TDC's interest to minimize its liability 

under its policy. TDC was not the intended beneficiary of BBL's 

legal services to its clients and imposition of a duty of care in favor 

of the carrier would create irreconcilable conflicts of interest on the 

part of retained counsel. 

Third, TDC has not argued that Trask or Stewart Title were 

incorrectly decided or harmful to the public interest, and has not 

provided any other basis for disregarding the rule of stare decisis. 

Moreover, its attempt to distinguish Stewart Title by arguing that it 

should not apply to the "egregious" facts here is meritless. CAppo Br. 

15) As the trial court recognized, the facts here - in which the 

carrier pursued a defense strategy to save $2 million under Dr. 

Moore's policy rather than settle - illustrate the wisdom of the rule 

that precluded BBL from subjugating its loyalties to their clients to 

the interests of the carrier paying for the defense. 

1. TDC was not a client of BBL, the law firm TDC 
retained to represent TDC's insureds. 

TDC acknowledges the general rule that only a client may sue 

a lawyer for legal malpractice. CAppo Br. 11) See Parks v. Fink, 173 
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Wn. App. 366, 377, ~ 21, 293 P .3d 1275 (2013) ("The general rule is 

that only an attorney's client may bring an action for attorney 

malpractice."), rev. denied, 177 Wn.2d 1025 (2013); Strait v. 

Kennedy, 103 Wn. App. 626, 630, 13 P.3d 671 (2000) (citing Trask 

v. Butler, 123 Wn.2d 835,839-40, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994). TDC, the 

liability carrier that was paying BBL to defend its insureds, was not 

a client of BBL. 

TDC never argued in the trial court, as it now does on appeal, 

that "TDC was BBL's client." (App. Br. 10) Instead, it argued that 

the law firm owed TDC a duty as a "non-client," (CP 1039), as a 

third party beneficiary and in "light of the tripartite relationship 

between the parties." (CP 1102) This Court should refuse to 

consider TDC's contention that it was a "client" of the law firm it 

retained to represent its insureds, as this argument is raised for the 

first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); Malgarini v. Washington Jockey 

Club, 60 Wn. App. 823, 826, 807 P.2d 901 (1991). 

In any event, TDC's attempt to raise this issue for the first 

time on appeal ignores the undisputed summary judgment record. 

TDC acknowledges that the threshold inquiry into the existence of 

an attorney-client relationship is "the client's subjective belief that 

it exists." Bohn v. Cody, 119 Wn.2d 357, 363, 832 P.2d 171 (1992) 
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(App. Br. 11). But TDC conceded that it hired BBL to defend its 

insureds in the Gabarra litigation and that it considered its 

insureds, and not TDC, to be the clients of the law firm: 

Q. You understood, at the time that you were 
contacting Bennett & Bigelow, that you were 
hiring them to represent your insureds, 
correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You understood, at the time you were hiring 
them, that their clients would be your insureds, 
right? 

A. That's always been made clear to me, yes. 

Q. And that's important, isn't it, that the lawyers 
be representing the insureds, not The Doctors 
Company, right? 

A. Yes. 

(CP 697-98) 

In light of this undisputed evidence, TDC's repeated 

contention that it "sought and relied upon BBL's legal advice," 

(App. Br. 5, 10, 12), is utterly devoid of merit. TDC's rhetoric, no 

matter how often repeated, cannot establish an issue of fact for trial 

under CR 56. See Griswold v. Kilpatrick, 107 Wn. App. 757, 758, 27 

P.3d 246 (2001) (opposition to summary judgment must rely on 

evidence not speculation). 
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Where the purported client does not even believe that he or 

she is entering into an attorney-client relationship, none exists as a 

matter oflaw. See Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 189, 905 P.2d 

355 (1995) ("The record does not suggest that even Dr. Sherman 

believed he had an attorney-client relationship with AAG Milam."). 

TDC's own regional vice president, who stated that "Bennett 

Bigelow & Leedom expressed willingness and ability to represent all 

three" of TDC's insureds does not so much as hint at a subjective 

belief that TDC sought legal advice from BBL. (CP 1851) Neither 

this testimony, nor Ms. Forbis's statement to Ms. Nucci that she 

"did not believe there was a conflict" (CP 1118), supports TDC's 

contention that it was BBL's client. (App. Br. 5, 10) 

Further, the purported client's subjective belief is insufficient 

to establish the existence of an attorney-client relationship if that 

belief is not objectively reasonable. Bohn, 119 Wn.2d at 364. In 

Bohn, the Court held no attorney-client relationship was formed 

because "Lucille Bohn's subjective belief was not reasonably based 

on the attending circumstances." 119 Wn.2d at 364. TDC 

misrepresents this holding in arguing that here, "as in Bohn ... BBL 

and TDC had an attorney-client relationship." (App. Br. 12) 
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If, contrary to the undisputed evidence, TDC had a subjective 

belief that it was BBL's client, the belief was unreasonable as a 

matter of law. In holding that a liability carrier's duty of good faith 

includes the obligation to provide its insured with defense counsel, 

the Supreme Court in Tank v. State Farm, 105 Wn.2d 381, 388, 715 

P.2d 1133 (1986), held that "[b]oth retained defense counsel and the 

insurer must understand that only the insured is the client." 

(Emphasis in original) After Tank, a carrier doing business in the 

State of Washington can have no realistic expectation of entering 

into an attorney-client relationship with the carrier it has hired to 

defend its insured under a liability policy. 

While the Tank Court went on to impose additional specific 

obligations of counsel retained to provide a defense under a 

reservation of rights, it characterized the duty to retain competent 

counsel, who understands that only the insured is counsel's client, 

as one of the "basic obligations" of the carrier to the insured in all 

cases. 105 Wn.2d at 388.1 The Supreme Court reaffirmed this most 

"basic" of rules again in Stewart Title, holding that retained 

Insurance defense counsel's "only client" was the insured, 

1 TDC fails to distinguish or even cite Tank on this issue. 
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characterizing the insurer that unsuccessfully sought to impose a 

duty of care on retained counsel as "a non-client third party payor." 

Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling Sav. Bank, 178 Wn.2d 561, 565, 

~ 9, 311 P·3d 1 (2013). 

Under Tank and Stewart Title, only the insureds were BBL's 

clients. As in Bohn, even if TDC believed that it was a client of the 

firm that TDC retained to represent its insureds, that expectation is 

unreasonable as a matter of law. 

2. TDC, the clients' liability carrier, was not the 
intended beneficiary of the defense provided 
by the lawyers it retained to represent its 
insureds under Trask v. Butler. 

The Supreme Court has recently and emphatically rejected 

TDC's argument that a liability carrier is a third party beneficiary of 

the attorney-client relationship between retained counsel and the 

insured-client. Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling Sav. Bank, 178 

Wn.2d 561, 567-68, ~~ 13-15, 311 P.3d 1 (2013). Anticipating the 

Court's decision in Stewart Title, the trial court correctly refused to 

impose a duty of care on counsel retained to defend an insured in 

favor of the liability carrier that pays counsel's fees. This Court 

should not do so here. 
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Establishment of a duty of care in tort entails "considerations 

of public policy which lead the law to conclude that a 'plaintiffs 

interests are entitled to legal protection against the defendant's 

conduct.'" Taylor v. Stevens County, 111 Wn.2d 159, 168, 759 P.2d 

447 (1988) (quoting W. Page Keeton, et aI., Prosser and Keeton on 

Torts § 53, at 357 (5th ed. 1984)) To determine whether, as a 

matter of law and policy, a duty of care is owed by an attorney to a 

non-client, the Court in Trask v. Butler, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 

1080 (1994) identified six factors: 

1. The extent to which the transaction was 
intended to benefit the plaintiff; 

2. The foreseeability of harm to the plaintiff; 

3. The degree of certainty that the plaintiff 
suffered injury; 

4. The closeness of the connection between the 
lawyer's conduct and the injury; 

5. The policy of preventing future harm; and 

6. The extent to which the profession would be 
unduly burdened by finding liability. 

Trask, 123 Wn.2d at 843. 

The trial court analyzed each of these factors here. (CP 1958-

60, App. A) It properly held, not only that the clients did not 

intend defense counsel's services to benefit TDC, but further, that 

extending retained counsel's potential tort liability to the liability 
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carrier would burden the profession by encouraging conflicts and 

undermining retained counsel's duty of loyalty to the client. The 

trial court correctly rejected imposition of a tort duty of care in 

favor of the liability carrier, holding that the first and sixth Trask 

factor counseled strongly against imposition of a duty of care as a 

matter of public policy. 

The first and most critical inquiry under Trask is whether 

the client intended the primary purpose of counsel's engagement to 

serve the interests of someone other than the client. 123 Wn.2d at 

842-43; Stewart Title, 178 Wn.2d at 566. See Strait v. Kennedy, 

103 Wn. App. 626, 633-34, 13 P.3d 671 (2000) (relevant inquiry is 

what client intended to accomplish in litigation, not what non-client 

plaintiff hoped to gain by it). Here, Dr. Moore and Dr. Nudelman 

anticipated that after paying annual premiums of $100,000 for 

liability insurance, retained counsel would "look out solely and 

exclusively for" their interests in the event they were sued. (CP 

1459, 1468, 1479) 

Moreover, while TDC's expectations are irrelevant to the 

inquiry, as a matter of undisputed fact, TDC intended BBL to 
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represent only its insureds' interests, not TDC's. (CP 697-98)2 The 

parties' mutual intent here - that the insured, who pays significant 

premiums for the right to a defense, is the intended beneficiary of 

the attorney-client relationship - is inherent in the nature of 

liability insurance, in which the defense may be of greater benefit 

than indemnity. See Truck Ins. Exchange v. Vanport Homes, Inc., 

147 Wn.2d 751,765,58 P.3d 276 (2002). 

TDC all but concedes that the Stewart Title Court has 

already rejected its argument that TDC was an "intended" 

beneficiary of BBL's representation of its insureds, asking this Court 

to limit the holding of Stewart Title to its particular facts. In 

Stewart Title, after analyzing a liability carrier's claim of legal 

malpractice against a retained law firm under Trask, the Court held 

that only the insured-client was the intended beneficiary of a law 

firm's representation of that insured, and that the firm owed no 

duty to the non-client insurance company paying the firm's fees. 

The Court recognized that while engagement of defense counsel 

benefits both the liability carrier and its insured, that is not a 

2 TDC also cites to BBL lawyer Amy Forbis' testimony that she told 
Ms. Nucci that "she did not believe there was a potential conflict," (App. 
Br. 5), but fails to explain the relevance of Ms. Forbis' statement. 
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sufficient basis for allowing the carrier to sue as a third party 

beneficiary under Trask: 

The fact that an insurer's and insured's interests 
happen to align in some respects ... does not by itself 
show that the attorney or client intended the insurer 
to benefit from the attorney's representation of the 
insured. 

178 Wn.2d at 567, ~ 14. 

There is nothing idiosyncratic about this holding. The 

Stewart Title Court expressly rejected the argument that TDC 

makes here: that "retention of insurance defense counsel is ... 

intended to benefit all of the parties the tripartite relationship." 

CAppo Br. 24) The Court "gave no indication in Stewart Title that 

there could be circumstances under which the representation of an 

attorney retained to represent an insured would be for the benefit of 

the insurer." Clark County Fire Dist. NO.5 V. Bullivant Houser 

Bailey PC, _ Wn. App. _, No. 42864-4-11, *8 CApril 24, 2014) 

(liability carrier lacks standing to pursue legal malpractice claims 

against firm it retained to represent its insured). 

TDC's argument, that the "essence of the engagement is to 

benefit both the insurer and the insured" CAppo Br. 24), would 

eviscerate the Trask analysis because it would "make any third 

party payor an intended beneficiary of a legal services contract to 
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whom a duty of care runs, in violation of RPC 5-4(c)." Stewart 

Title, 178 Wn.2d at 568, ~ 15. It would equally eviscerate the 

relationship between a liability carrier, retained counsel, and the 

insured-client that the Court carefully crafted in Tank, 105 Wn.2d 

at 388. 

Stewart Title obviates the necessity of engaging in the Trask 

analysis as a matter of law. Clark County Fire Dist., at *8. 

Nonetheless, the trial court properly held that the sixth Trask factor 

"weighs heavily in favor of no duty," because it would be "hugely 

burdensome" to the legal profession, creating risks of divided 

loyalties. (CP 1960, App. A) See Trask, 123 Wn.2d at 844-45. TDC 

glosses over this critical factor, blithely stating that "no conflict of 

interest existed between TDC and its insureds." (App. Br. 27) As 

the trial court noted however, "there was a huge level conflict 

between the clients and the plaintiff/insurance company in this 

case." (CP 1960) TDC embarked on a strategy to save $2 million 

under Dr. Moore's policy rather than pursue settlement of an excess 

claim for which liability was reasonably clear as to Dr. Nudelman.

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